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LYNCH, Circuit Judge. Sunday Di xon Orekoya is a black

Ni gerian national who brought suit asserting he was the victim of
raci al and national origin discrimnation by an overzeal ous United
States Secret Service agent who was investigating financial fraud
crinmes by Nigerian nationals. O ekoya asserted that this agent and
anot her violated the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a (2000),
in two instances. |In 1989, Agent Melissa Wal sh obtai ned and t hen
released to Oekoya's enployer, the Bank of New England,
i nformati on about Orekoya (which turned out to be i naccurate) from
the files of the Immgration and Naturalization Service. |n 1990,
Agent Janes Mooney is alleged to have released to the enployer
i nformati on froma Federal Bureau of |Investigation record. O ekoya
al so asserts that Agent Mooney, through these and other actions,
violated his Fifth Amendnent rights.

The district court dism ssed his Privacy Act clains after
a bench trial. A jury had earlier rejected his clains under 42
U S C 81981 (2000). In this appeal, Orekoya argues that the jury
was not properly instructed on his Fifth Amendnment clains of

di scrim nation, brought under the Bivens doctrine. See Bivens v.

Si x _Unknown Naned Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U S. 388

(1971). He also attacks the district court's Privacy Act
conclusions, claimng errors of fact and law. On the Bivens jury
instruction claim we affirm On the Privacy Act clains, we

affirm holding that: (1) the Act permts an award of enotiona
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di stress damages, subject to firm requirenents for proof of
enotional distress; (2) plaintiff's proof of enotional distress
damages was i nsufficient; and (3) an agency may not i muni ze itself
fromliability for its unauthorized disclosure on the grounds that
t he records di sclosed did not conme fromits files but were obtai ned
froma system of records nmaintai ned by anot her agency.

| . Background

A. Fact ual Backqgr ound

Orekoya was born in Lagos, Nigeria in 1960 and cane to
the United States to attend college in 1983. He attended Roxbury
Community Col |l ege and took courses at Northeastern University and
t he New Engl and Banking Institute. 1n 1986, O ekoya began wor ki ng
for the Bank of New England (BNE) as a teller. In 1988, he was
pronoted to a position as a Fund Accountant in the commercia
| endi ng departnent and transferred to BNE s headquarters.

In 1989, the United States Secret Service (USSS) and
ot her federal agencies set up task forces in a nunber of cities to
conbat arisein crinme by Nigerian nationals. The Immgration and
Naturalization Service (INS) estimated that a majority of the
Ni gerian nationals in the United States were involved in crimnal
activity. This activity revolved primarily around financial
transaction and i nsurance fraud, and a typical suspect worked in a

bank.



1. Janes Mboney

On January 31, 1989, Orekoya |loaned his car to |saac
A opade, another N gerian national. A opade was stopped by the
Provi dence Police for speeding. He was the subject of a USSS
credit card investigation, and so the police called the Providence
of fice of the USSS to request an agent's presence at the scene of
the traffic stop. Janes Mboney, an agent specializing in
counterfeiting and fraud i nvesti gati ons who knew O opade, arrived.
He di scovered that the car belonged to "Sunday D xon." This nane
was not unfamliar to Mooney; a car with a license plate registered
in that nane had previously appeared at businesses subject to
i nvestigation and surveillance by the USSS.

In March 1990, Mooney was contacted by the Rhode Island
police, who were investigating an all egation that O ekoya had raped
a woman in Cranston. The woman naned "Sunday Di xon" as the rapi st
and identified Oekoya' s photo. Mooney di scovered through the
owner of the apartnent where the rape occurred that O ekoya worked
for BNE. Mooney then contacted BNE and di scussed Orekoya with
Chri st opher Carney, Director of Corporate Security for BNE. Mooney
i nformed Carney that the USSS was conducting an i nvestigation into
the use of BNE credit cards in a fraud schene involving stolen
rental cars. Orekoya later clained that Money also told Carney
about the rape investigation and Oekoya's prior arrest for

robbery, information supposedly derived fromthe Federal Bureau of



| nvestigation (FBI), and that Money asked for information about
O ekoya' s bank accounts.

On March 9, 1990, Orekoya was arrested at BNE by the
Boston Police. Mooney interrogated him about the sexual assault
and the involvenent of Nigerians in credit card fraud. He al so
took a picture of Orekoya at the police station and kept it.
O ekoya cl ai ned that Mooney periodically showed the picture around
t he USSS offi ce.

As a result of his arrest, Oekoya was suspended from
work without pay. On June 25, 1991, the rape case was di sm ssed
because the victimwould not testify in court. That nonth O ekoya
attenpted to regain his job but was told that the position had been
el i m nat ed.

2. Meli ssa Wl sh

In 1989, BNE began conducting an internal investigation
into overdraft activity in Orekoya's personal bank account. 1In the
course of the investigation, Carney noticed that O ekoya's passport
had expired. On June 27, 1989, Carney contacted t he USSS and asked
Mel i ssa Wal sh, an agent, about Orekoya's immgration status. She
cal |l ed Carney back the next day and reported that she | earned from
“Imm gration"” that Oekoya was present in the United States
illegally. When a BNE official contacted the INS, it refused to

rel ease any information over the phone.



Because Orekoya had lost his green card, he could not
produce any | egal docunents proving his immgration status. As a
result, on July 24, 1989, BNE tenporarily suspended Orekoya, with
pay. He went to the Boston INS office and returned to BNE t he next
day with a stanp on his passport proving eligibility. He was
i mmedi atel y given back his position.

B. Procedural History

Orekoya filed a conplaint agai nst USSS and Mooney. He
cl ai med that he had been the victimof discrimnation and all eged
violations of the Fourth, Fifth, and Ninth Anendnments, 42 U.S.C. 88
1981, 1983, and the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act, Mass. Gen. Laws
ch. 12, 8 111 (2003). He also clainmed that the USSS had viol at ed
the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. 8§ 552a, and the Financial Privacy Act, 12
U S C § 3417 (2000). Finally, he alleged counts of slander and
abuse of process agai nst Money. ?

Orekoya filed his first conplaint in 1992. He filed an
anended conplaint in early 1996. Since that tinme, for a variety of
reasons including illnesses and recusals, the case has been heard
by no less than four federal district court judges. It has been
over a decade since the first conplaint was filed. W briefly
navi gate the contours of the procedural history, setting aside the

niceties until they are relevant to the discussion.

2 Orekoya did not pursue the abuse of process claim
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In a summary judgnent ruling in 1997, the district court
di sm ssed the Fourth, Fifth, and Ninth Anendnent clains and the
§ 1983 claim It dismssed the Fifth and N nth Amendnent clains
agai nst Mooney based on a finding that he was entitled to qualified
I munity.

In 1999, the district court granted sumary judgnent to
t he defendants for any remai ning Fourth, Fifth, and N nth Amendnent
claims. It also dismssed the Massachusetts Cvil Rights Act and
slander clains. After this order, all that remained were the 8§
1981 claim and the Privacy Act and Financial Privacy Act clains.
The court also nade clear that the § 1981 claim could enconpass
di scrimnation based on ethnicity and ancestry, but that O ekoya
could not bring a separate claim for discrimnation based on
nati onal origin under Bivens.

The 8 1981 claimwas tried in front of a jury in March
2000. Orekoya asked that the court submit a Bivens claim for
national origin discrimnation to the jury as well as the § 1981
claimfor discrimnation for race or ethnicity. The request was
denied. On March 22, 2000, the jury found for the defendants.

On March 24, 2000 the district court held a bench trial.
On February 15, 2002, the district court found for the defendants

on the Privacy Act claim?® It found that Wal sh's disclosure to BNE

! Orekoya voluntarily dismssed the Financial Privacy Act
claimafter trial.
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did not violate the Act because it did not involve the USSS s own
records system which does not maintain records regarding
citizenship, and because Orekoya did not prove that he suffered
adverse effects. It found that the Privacy Act did not allow
recovery for enotional danmages or other non-quantifiable injuries,
and that in any case Orekoya had not proven enotional distress.

Plaintiff tinmely appeal ed both the refusal of the Bivens
jury instruction and the district court's Privacy Act clains.

1. Discussion

A. The Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. 8§ 552a(b)

When review ng the decisions of the district court in a
bench trial, we reviewthe court's | egal determ nati ons de novo and

its factual findings for clear error. NE Drilling v. Inner Space

Servs., Inc., 243 F.3d 25, 37 (1st Cr. 2001).

In the Privacy Act of 1974, Congress i nposed restrictions
on the ability of government agencies to disclose certain
i nformation on individuals which they had nai ntai ned in a system of
records. See 5 U.S.C. 8 552a(b). Since then, Congress has anended
the statute several tinmes, nost recently in 1999, taking further
increnental steps to protect the privacy of individuals. Thi s
court has had very few occasions to interpret or apply the Act.

See, e.q., Fed. Labor Relations Auth. v. U.S. Dep't of the Navy,

941 F.2d 49 (1st CGr. 1991); Beaulieu v. IRS, 865 F.2d 1351 (1st

Cir. 1989); Usher v. Sec'y of HHS, 721 F.2d 854 (1st G r. 1983).




At issue here is the bar on unauthorized discl osures:

No agency shall disclose any record which is contained in
a systemof records by any means of conmunication to any
person, or to another agency, except pursuant to a
witten request by, or with the prior witten consent of,
the individual to whomthe record pertains

5 US. C § 552a(h). If an agency, acting intentionally or
willfully, violates this conmmand "in such a way as to have an
adverse effect on an individual," Congress has authorized the
filing of a civil action for damages by the affected individual.
Id. 8§ 552a(g)(1). Both "actual danmages sustained by the
i ndi vidual " and statutory m ni num damages of $1, 000 are avail abl e,
along with attorney's fees. 1d. § 522a(qg)(4).

In sum the key elenents of a cause of action under the
Privacy Act for danages for disclosure are:

(1) agency disclosure (by any neans of conmuni cati on)

(2) to an individual or another agency

(3) of a "record" contained "in a system of records"

(4) which is unauthorized by the individual, and

(5) which is not within an exception

(6) and has an "adverse effect” on the individual (a

requi renent which contains two conmponents: (i) an

adverse effect standing conmponent (ii) a causal
nexus between the disclosure and the adverse

ef fect)
(7) and that the agency action be in a manner which was
"intentional™ or "willful,” which neans proof

somewhat greater than gross negligence.

See 5 U S . C 8§ 552a; Quinn v. Stone, 978 F.2d 126, 131 (3d Gr.

1992); Waters v. Thornburgh, 888 F.2d 870, 872 (D.C. Gr. 1989).
The Privacy Act prohibits nore than dissem nation of records

t hensel ves, but also “nonconsensual di scl osure of any



i nformati on that has been retrieved froma protected record.”
Bartel v. FAA 725 F.2d 1403, 1408 (D.C. Cir. 1984).2

The district court entered sumary judgnent on multiple
grounds on the two sets of alleged violations -- the 1989 actions
of Agent WAl sh and the 1990 actions of Agent Money. W discuss
only three of those grounds. The district court held (1) that
unaut hori zed disclosure from one agency's system of records by
anot her agency to a third party is not a violation of the Act; (2)
that nmental or enotional distress are not enconpassed within the
phrase "actual damages"” under the Act; and (3) that plaintiff's
proof failed to permt a reasonable factfinder to find any
conpensabl e enotional distress caused by the alleged violations.
We disagree with the first two grounds. But we do agree as to the
third ground and so ultimately affirmthe sumary judgnent.

1. Di scl osure and System of Records

The district dism ssed Orekoya' s cl ai ns concerni ng Agent
Wal sh' s di scl osure on the basis that USSS did not maintain a system
of records concerning immgration status and Wal sh therefore did
not rely on any USSS record about plaintiff's citizenship. The

plaintiff alleges that Agent Walsh called the INS and obtai ned

2 For a disclosure to be a violation of the Act, the
i nformati on nust have been obtained from a protected record;
di scl osing i nformati on that happens to be contained in a protected
record is not covered by the Privacy Act if the information is
obt ai ned i ndependently. Qberding v. United States Dep’t of Def.
709 F.2d 621, 622 (8th Cr. 1983).
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information fromthe INS systemof records, and then di scl osed the
i nformati on to BNE, Orekoya's enpl oyer, w thout O ekoya's consent.
Simlarly, as to USSS Agent Mooney, the court concluded that if he
di sclosed to BNE information from FBI files about O ekoya's prior
arrest for unarmed robbery, that was not an acti onabl e di scl osure.

W hol d t hat t he unaut hori zed di scl osure by one agency of
protected informati on obtained froma record in another agency’s
system is a prohibited disclosure under the Act, unless the
di sclosure falls within the statutory exceptions. W stress that
the issue is not the disclosure by one agency to another, but the
di scl osure by the second agency to a nenber of the public. e
reject the district court's reading on the grounds that it is
contrary to the plain | anguage of 8 552a(b) and woul d defeat the
pur poses of the Act. The statute says that no agency shall
di scl ose any record which is contained in "a system of records."
5 U S C 8§ 552a(b) (enphasis added). A "system of records" is
defined as a group of any records "under the control of any
agency." Id. 8 552a(a)(5). The statute al so prohibits unauthorized
di scl osure "to anot her agency." 1d. The | anguage does not support
the view that an agency may imunize itself from liability by
obtaining information froma different agency's system of records
and then saying its further unauthorized disclosure is protected

because its own system of records was not the original source.
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Such a reading would create a trenendous |oophole in privacy
protection, one surely not intended by Congress.

Even if the initial disclosure by an agency fromits own
systemof records (here the INS) to another agency (here the USSS)
were within one of the exceptions, see, e.q., 8§ 552a(b)(7)
(permtting disclosures between agencies “for a civil or crimnal
| aw enforcenent activity” upon a witten request), that would not
permt the recipient agency to t hen make an unaut hori zed di scl osure
to a third party if the latter disclosure did not itself fall
within an exception. The Nnth GCircuit reached a simlar

conclusion in Wlborn v. Departnent of Health & Hunan Servi ces, 49

F.3d 597, 601 (9th Gir. 1994).

2. Availability of Enotional Distress Damages Under
the Privacy Act

The district court ruled as a matter of law that no
recovery i s avail abl e under the Privacy Act for enotional distress
damages. The question presented is not whether out-of-pocket
pecuni ary costs occasi oned by enotional distress, such as paynents
to therapists for treatnment, are "actual damages"; they surely are.
The governnment agrees that such | osses are "actual damages” within
the neani ng of the statute, but argues that danages are restricted
to only such out-of-pocket expenses.

What appears to be a sinple question is instead a

conplicated series of questions. The Privacy Act provides:

-12-



(4) In any suit brought wunder the provisions of
subsection (g)(1)(C or (D) of this section in which the
court determ nes that the agency acted in a manner which
was intentional or willful, the United States shall be
liable to the individual in an amobunt equal to the sum of

(A) actual damages sustai ned by the individual as a
result of the refusal or failure, but in no case
shall a person entitled to recovery receive |ess
t han the sum of $1, 000; and
(B) the costs of the action together wth
reasonable attorney fees as determned by the
court.
5 US. C § 552a(g)(4). This in turn raises a series of questions
concerned with the relationship between the statutory requirenent
that there be "an adverse effect on an individual," id. 8§
552a(g) (1) (D), the "actual damages” requirenent, id. 8
552a(g) (4) (A), and the $1,000 statutory damages provision for a
person "entitled to recovery," id.

First is the question of whether an individual nust show
nerely an adverse effect to receive $1,000 i n statutory danages, or
whet her he nust al so show actual danages in order to receive even
statutory damages. The statutory "adverse effect” requirenent, id.
8§ 552a(g)(1)(D), is generally viewed as a standi ng requirenment and
a causation requirenent which enables an individual to bring a
civil action to enforce civil renedies. Quinn, 978 F.2d at 135.
| f showi ng an adverse effect is sufficient to get $1,000 statutory
damages, then the initial question is whether provable enotional

di stress constitutes an adverse effect. Five circuits have held

that an allegation of enotional distress was sufficient to show
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adverse effect, and that a plaintiff asserting enotional distress
coul d recover at least $1,000: the Third Circuit, see id. at 135;
the Fifth CGrcuit, Johnson v. IRS, 700 F.2d 971, 976-77 (5th G

1983); the Tenth Circuit, see Parks v. |IRS, 618 F.2d 677, 682-83

(10th Gr. 1980); the Eleventh Grcuit, see Fitzpatrick v. I RS, 665

F.2d 327, 331 & n.7 (11th Cr. 1982); and the D.C. Crcuit, see

Albright v. United States, 732 F.2d 181, 186 (D.C. Cr. 1984).

Whet her under "actual danages"” the plaintiff could recover nore
than statutory danages is another question for this group of
courts. One circuit, the Fourth, over a dissent, has held that an
i ndi vi dual nust suffer "actual danmges"” in order to be considered
"a person entitled to recovery” and thus eligible for the statutory

m ni mum damages of $1, 000. Doe v. Chao, 306 F.3d 170, 177 (4th

Cir. 2002). That court agreed that an adverse effect may be shown
by enotional distress, but disagreed that an adverse effect is
sufficient to obtain enotional distress statutory damages, while
acknow edging the issue to be close.® 1d. at 177-79 & 180 n. 6.

I nherent in these cases i s an anal ysis that Congress woul d not
have granted standing to pursue an action for civil renedies to
those who suffered an adverse effect caused by an intentional or
willful violation and then afforded no renedy at all for the

adverse effect. Such a result, the reasoni ng goes, woul d be belied

8 The Sixth Crcuit in Hudson v. Reno, 130 F.3d 1193, 1207 &
n.11 (6th Cr. 1997), addressed only the actual danmages issue, not
the statutory damages i ssue.
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by the l|anguage that "in no case shall a person entitled to
recovery receive less than the sum of $1000." 5 USC 8
552a(g)(4)(A). Such areading is also supported by the | egislative
hi story, which shows that the phrase "adverse effect” is drawn from
t he renedi al section of the House bill and is consonant with the
renedi al section of the Senate bill, which refers to "aggrieved
persons." See Parks, 618 F.2d at 682-83 & n. 2.

As expl ained by the dissent in Doe, "the meaning of 'adverse
effect’ in subsection(g)(1)(D) is both distinct from and broader
t han t he neani ng of 'actual damages' in subsection (g)(4)(A." 306
F.3d at 186 (Mchael, J., concurring in part and dissenting in
part). This is also how the Third Circuit has interpreted the
statute. Quinn, 978 F.2d at 135 n.15. As a result, proof that
there is an adverse effect may not be sufficient to prove actual
damages.

We agree with the dissent in Doe that the npbst natural and
reasonabl e readi ng of the statute is that statutory damages, if not
actual danmges, are available to individuals who suffer adverse
effects fromintentional and willful violations of the act and t hat
provabl e enoti onal distress nmay constitute an adverse effect. The
statute provides that a "person entitled to recovery"” shall receive
at |least statutory damages of $1,000. 5 U S.C. 8§ 552a(qg)(4)(A.

W join the rule adopted by the majority of circuits that have
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addressed this issue,* as described by the dissent in Doe, 306 F.3d
at 189. That is the interpretation adopted by OVB, the agency
responsible for inplenenting the Act. See OVB Privacy Act
Gui del i nes, 40 Fed. Reg. 28,949, 28,970 (July 9, 1975). It is also
the nost consistent with the l|legislative history described in
Parks, 618 F.2d at 682-83. | ndeed, even the senm nal Eleventh
Circuit case which rejected enotional distress danages as act ual
damages found that enotional distress is an adverse effect for

whi ch statutory damages are available. Fitzpatrick, 665 F.2d at

331 & n. 7.

This, though, I|eaves the question of whether non-
pecuni ary enotional distress damages of nore than $1,000 nay be
recovered as actual danmages. W describe but do not resolve the
guestion, which we consider to be a much closer one. Here, too,
the circuits disagree. The Fifth Crcuit has held that enotiona
di stress damages shoul d be included as "actual danages" under the

Privacy Act. See Johnson, 700 F.2d at 977. The Tenth Circuit has

not explicitly addressed this question but has interpreted the
Privacy Act as borrowing fromthe common |law tort of invasion of
privacy, where "nental distress or enbarrassnment woul d be a natural
and probabl e consequence of such an invasion."” Parks, 618 F.2d at

683. The Sixth and El eventh Circuits have held that enotiona

“ It is not clear from the government's brief whether it
agrees with or objects to this concl usion.
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di stress damages are not recoverable under the Privacy Act as

"actual damages."” Hudson v. Reno, 130 F.3d 1193, 1207 (6th Cr.

1997); Eitzpatrick, 665 F.2d at 331. The Fourth Grcuit reserved

t he question. Doe, 306 F.3d at 181. See generally F.Z. Lodge,

Not e, Damages Under The Privacy Act of 1974: Conpensati on and

Deterrence, 52 Ford. L. Rev. 611 (1984).

The circuits which exclude enotional distress danages
from "actual damages” do so on the basis that what is involved is
a wai ver of sovereign immnity and thus nmust be strictly read. "A
wai ver of the Federal Governnent's sovereign imunity nust be
unequi vocal |y expressed in statutory text and will not be inplied."

Lane v. Pena, 518 U S. 187, 192 (1996) (internal citations

omtted); see United States v. Nordic Vill., Inc., 503 U S. 30, 33-
34 (1992). In addition, "actual damages" does not have a generally
accepted neaning of including enotional distress danages. Such

damages are hard to police and nay lead to broader waivers of
immunity than Congress intended when it used the phrase "actua
damages." These courts also rely on legislative history set forth

ably in Fitzpatrick, 665 F.2d at 330-31, although other cases poi nt

to legislative history going the other way, see Johnson, 700 F.2d

at 975-77; Parks, 618 F.2d at 682; see also Lodge, supra, at 623
n. 76.
The reading that "actual damages” include enotional

distress damages is based on several argunents, as follows.
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Congress clearly waived imunity as to "actual danages” in the
Privacy Act, which in turn was based in part on the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. 88 1681-1681t (2000), which then
and since has wusually been interpreted to include enotional

di stress damages within "actual danmages." See Cousin v. Trans

Union Corp., 246 F.3d 359, 371 (5th Cir. 2001).° Adnmittedly, the

government i s not the usual defendant in FCRA cases and so no i ssue
of sovereign immunity is necessarily involved in those cases.
Admttedly as well, there was not a |arge body of case |law at the
time of enactnment of the Privacy Act under the FCRA

Further, under the comon |aw, damages for enotional
distress were awardable for invasion of privacy or for public
di scl osure of private facts. 62A Am Jur. 2d Privacy § 106 (2002);

see Tine, Inc. v. HIll, 385 U S 374, 386 n.9 (1967); Parks, 618

F.2d at 683; Restatenment (Second) of Torts § 652H (1977).

®> See also Casella v. Equifax Credit Info. Servs., 56 F.3d
469, 474-75 (2d CGr. 1995); @inond v. Trans Union Credit Info.
Co., 45 F.3d 1329, 1333 (9th CGr. 1995); Bryant v. TRW Inc., 689
F.2d 72, 79 (6th Cr. 1982); MIllIstone v. O Hanlon Reports, Inc.,
528 F.2d 829, 834-35 (8th Cr. 1976). Simlarly, as noted in
Johnson, 700 F.2d at 983-84, the term"actual damages"” in the Fair
Housing Act (FHA), 42 U.S.C. 8 3612(c), has been interpreted by
some courts, before enactnent of the Privacy Act and since, to
i ncl ude damages for enotional distress as well as out-of-pocket
| oss. See Banai v. Secretary, 102 F.3d 1203, 1207 (11th Cr.
1997); United States v. Balistrieri, 981 F.2d 916, 928 (7th Cr.
1992); United States v. Long, 537 F.2d 1151, 1154 (4th Cr. 1976);
Smith v. Anchor Bldg. Corp., 536 F.2d 231, 236 (8th Cr. 1976);
Steele v. Title Realty Co., 478 F.2d 380, 384 (10th Cr. 1973).

-18-



Finally, incivil rights actions under 42 U S.C. 8§ 1983,
the Suprene Court has permtted the award of enotional distress

damages, Menphis Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Stachura, 477 U. S. 299, 307-08

(1986), albeit subject to standards of proof, Carey v. Piphus, 435
US 247, 264 n.20 (1978). As to the sensible |limts point
"Distress is a personal injury famliar to the law, customarily
proved by showi ng the nature and circunmstances of the wong and its
effect on the plaintiff.” Id. at 263-64.

This circuit has no informative precedent under the
Privacy Act or the FCRA One case includes enotional distress
darmages within the meaning of the statutory term"actual danages."

In Fleet Mortgage Group, Inc. v. Kaneb, 196 F.3d 265 (1st Gr.

1999), we interpreted damages under 11 U. S.C. 8§ 362(h) (2000) of
t he Bankruptcy Code, which addresses the willful violation of a
stay, as enconpassi ng enotional distress danages. 1d. at 269. But
agai n, that case did not involve waiver of the federal governnment's
I munity.

Under any of the above fornulations, the plaintiff would
have to show a causal connection between the Privacy Act violation
and the enotional distress damages. And here we have the tria
judge's fully warranted hol ding, after trial, that plaintiff failed
to nmeet his burden on causati on.

Orekoya has not appealed from the district court's

determination that there was no causal relationship between the
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term nation of his enploynment and the defendants' actions. Thus,
his only damages, if any, are to conpensate for enotional distress.
Orekoya sai d that he sought nmental health counseling as a result of
bei ng upset when he was escorted fromBNE when he coul d not produce
i mm gration papers showing he was validly in the country. To
support Orekoya's claim of enotional distress, a psychiatrist
testified that he suffered from depression.

The district court had before it a decade of accunul at ed
record, including testinony fromthe 8 1981 jury trial. It found
that Orekoya's claim of enotional distress "lacks credibility.”
The psychiatrist who testified had exam ned Orekoya during three
one-hour sessions and had not independently verified his
statenents. There was no external evidence of Orekoya' s distress;
as the district court found, "During the first senester follow ng
hi s suspensi on, O ekoya perfornmed exceptionally in all his classes
at Northeastern University," and he had a successful interview at
the New England Banking Institute, which led to his adm ssion
there, two nonths after his suspension at BNE

Even if Orekoya could have proven enotional distress,
there was nothing but speculation to link it to a Privacy Act
viol ation. Orekoya had independent reasons to be distressed: he
had been accused of rape, which |l ed to BNE suspending himfromhis

job; and a nmassive layoff at BNE caused himto | ose that job.
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We find no clear error in the district court's hol ding
that Orekoya neither denonstrated enotional distress nor showed
that it was caused by any Privacy Act violation.

B. Bivens Jury Instruction |ssue

Orekoya's request for a Bivens jury instruction was, in
essence, a request to reconsider the legal ruling of a prior judge
in the proceeding. W review such requests for abuse of

di scretion. Ellis v. United States, 313 F.3d 636, 648 (1lst Cr.

2002).
Orekoya's 8 1981 claimwent to the jury, which returned
a verdict against him The instruction given was:

To establish this case, M. O ekoya nust persuade
you by a preponderance of the evidence of four things:

First, that he is a nenber of a distinct racial or
et hni ¢ group;

Second, that Agent Mooney di scrim nated agai nst him
because of his race or ethnicity;

Third, that he was deprived of the full and equal
benefit of the |Iaws as enjoyed by white citizens; and,

Fourth, that he suffered damages as a result of this
di scri m nati on.

That M. Orekoya, as a black N gerian, is a nmenber
of a distinct racial group is not a matter of dispute.
The real issue in this case is whether the actions taken
by Agent Mooney involving M. Oekoya, such as you find
them were notivated by a racially discrimnatory
purpose; that is, did M. Agent Mooney intentionally and
pur poseful l'y discrim nate agai nst M. O ekoya because he
was a black person from Nigeria, or were his actions
notivated by sonme legitimate race-neutral reason

This instruction itself was subject to no objection.
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Orekoya's argunment, which was presented by post-
i nstruction objection and pre-instruction request,® is that he was
entitled to an additional instruction on the ground that a jury
could perfectly well find he had not been discrimnated against
because he was black but that would not dispose of the issue of
whet her he had been di scri m nat ed agai nst because he was N geri an.
This is a serious error, he says, because his entire case was
geared to showi ng Agent Money's excessive zeal in targeting and
harassi ng Ni geri ans because of their nationality, not their race.
The governnent's response is that there was no | onger any Bivens
issue (if a Bivens claimwas stated at all -- an issue we do not
reach) to submt to the jury because Judge Young had di sm ssed the
Bivens claim on qualified immunity grounds in 1997 and O ekoya
thereafter did not pursue the issue. O ekoya denmurs that Judge
Young di smi ssed only the Fifth Arendnent due process cl ai ns and not
the Fifth Amendnent equal protection clains.

Wiile it is true that the discussionin the court's order
says Orekoya argued his Fifth Anendnent due process rights had been
violated, the order quite clearly dismsses all Fifth Amendnent

claims in Counts I, Il, and IW. Those counts are brought,

® His requested instruction was: "If, but only if, you find
that the actions of the defendant were based on national origin
al one, and were not based on consideration of the plaintiff's race,
then you nust consider the plaintiff's clains under the Fifth
Amendnment to the United States Constitution.” The requested
instruction went on to describe the Fifth Anendnent and the Bivens
doctri ne.
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respectively, under the United States Constitution, 42 US. C 8§
1983, and the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act. Mreover, defendant
Mooney had noved to dismiss on qualified imunity grounds all
constitutional clains asserted. Both parties discussed the equal
protection aspects of the constitutional claimin their summary
j udgnent briefs. Judge Young's om ssion of a discussion of the
equal protection claims did not nmean the dismssal did not
enconpass those cl ai ns.

Orekoya next erroneously argues that Judge Young could
not have granted qualified inmunity because "national origin

di scrimnation precludes the availability of qualified imunity as

a defense,” citing to Di Marco-Zappa v. Cabanillas, 238 F.3d 25, 31,

37 (1st Cr. 2001). The assertion is flatly wong. D Marco
applied the usual rules of qualified immunity and concl uded, on the
facts there, that inmmunity was not available. There is no per se
rule that national origin discrimnation is exenpt fromqualified
i mmunity anal ysi s.

Further, if plaintiff thought the inmunity order
anbi guous, he had sone obligation to resolve the anbiguity by
straightforwardly presenting it by notion for reconsideration. The
record is bare. W do not, as does plaintiff, read Judge Lindsay's
colloquy with counsel on May 13, 1999 as establishing that there
was a live Bivens claim under the equal protection prong of the

Fifth Arendnent. To the contrary, Judge Lindsay, in discussingthe
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8 1981 claim which would go to the jury, seened to say that in
addition to the qualified imunity defense, no Bivens claim was
stated on the nerits because a renedy existed under § 1981.

At nost there is a belated request to the trial judge,
Judge Stearns, for a Bivens jury instruction. In these
ci rcunst ances the decision by the trial judge not to permt rebirth
of a theory long buried was not an abuse of discretion.

That trial judge added another reason for rejecting the
proposed instruction: it was not close to affecting the outcone.
If the jury returned a verdict against plaintiff on the
i nstructions given, plaintiff surely would have | ost as well on the
i nstruction he requested. The instruction given required a finding
of discrimnation agai nst Orekoya as "a bl ack person fromN geria"
and that the discrimnation be based on his "race or ethnicity."
We agree that any purported error in failing to give the additional
requested instruction was harnl ess.

C. Concl usi on

The judgnent for defendants is affirmed.

(Concurring opinion follows.)
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CAMPBELL, Senior Circuit Judge (concurring). | wi sh only

to enphasi ze the panel's express holding in its preceding opinion
that it does not resolve (and | woul d understand, does not signal
any preference relative to) the question of whether non-pecuniary
enotional distress damages of nore than $1,000 nmay be recovered
under the rubric of "actual damages." What ever the argunents
favori ng such damages, as set out in the court's opinion, one nust
also westle with the difficult question whether and where Congress
has provided "an unequivocal textual waiver of the Government's
immunity," necessary before such danages can be recognized and

all owed by the courts. United States v. Nordic Village, Inc., 503

US 30, 39 (1992); see also Lane v. Pena, 518 U. S 187, 192

(1996). This issue awaits anot her day.
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